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Before STEWART and PARKER, Circuit Judges, and GOLDBERG', Judge.
CARL E. STEWART, Circuit Judge:

James P. Logan (“Logan”) appedals from the district court’ s judgment, partially granting the
motion for judgment as a matter of law brought by The Origina HoneyBaked Ham Company of
Georgia, Inc., and HoneyBaked Foods, Inc., (co llectively, “HoneyBaked”) following a jury trid.
Also, HoneyBaked appeals the district court’s refusal to grant certain portions of its motion for
judgment as a matter of law. For the following reasons, we affirm.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

L ogan holds several patents on amethod of spiraly dicing boneless meat products and sells
meat products that were cut using this method in severd retail outlets. In July 1997, Logan filed a
patent infringement suit against HoneyBaked, alleging violations of his patents for the spiral dicing
method in cutting boneless turkey breasts.

Aspart of aresolution of the litigation, the parties entered into alicense agreement whereby
HoneyBaked would provide royalties to Logan for all boneless meat products it sold that were cut
using the spira dlicing process. The contract did not specifically state that HoneyBaked was
obligated to sell any of Logan’s product.

Before it was to begin paying royalties, HoneyBaked ordered its sellers not to sell the meat
products that were subject to the agreement. Only a small quantity of the meat was sold, and
consequently, Logan received only a smal payment from HoneyBaked. However, HoneyBaked

continued to use pictures of the spiral sliced meat products in its advertisng. A few stores owned

“Judge of the United States Court of International Trade, sitting by designation.

2



by Logan continued to sell the spira dliced meat products.

After the parties had reached their agreement and shortly before the deadline for entry of the
order dismissing Logan’ s suspended patent infringement claim, Logan discovered that HoneyBaked
had discontinued its sales of spiral diced meat products. He aso discovered that HoneyBaked owed
him very littlein royalties. Thus, he resumed litigating his patent infringement claim, adding claims
for breach of contract, or in the alternative, rescission dueto error or fraud, false advertising under
theLanhamAct, 15U.S.C. §1125(a), and L ouisianaunfair competition and deceptivetrade practices
law.

Thedistrict court bifurcated Logan’s claims, ruling that Logan’ s nonpatent claims would be
tried first. Following trial on the nonpatent claims, the jury found that HoneyBaked did not breach
avalid agreement with Logan. However, the jury also found that the receipt of a stream of royalties
wasaprincipal cause of the contract and that HoneyBaked knew or should have knownthisfact. The
jury concluded that Logan’ s consent to the license agreement had been obtained by fraud. Thejury
also determined that HoneyBaked had willfully violated the Lanham Act by falsdy advertising spird
diced meat products. However, it found that Logan had not established any actual losses with
respect to the Lanham Act violation. The jury awarded Logan $8.8 million on the fraud claim and
$480,000 on the Lanham Act claim.*

After the jury returned its verdict, Logan moved to dismiss his pending patent infringement

These amounts are the combined total s of thejury’ saward with respect to both The Original
HoneyBaked Ham Company of Georgia and HoneyBaked Foods, Inc. The jury found that Logan
isentitled to $7,934,218 from The Origina HoneyBaked Ham Company of Georgiaasaresult of the
rescission of the license agreement due to fraud and $400,000 for the Lanham Act violation. With
respect to HoneyBaked Foods, Inc., the jury found that Logan is entitled to $809,540 for rescission
due to fraud and $80,000 under the Lanham Act.
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claims with prgjudice on the condition that HoneyBaked dismiss its declaratory judgment patent
clam. On August 9, 1999, the district court dismissed all of the patent claims. However, the court
did not specify whether the dismissal waswith or without prejudice. On May 17, 2000, upon motion
by HoneyBaked and one day after Logan filed his notice of appeal to this Court, the district court
entered an order attempting to correct its April 19, 2000, memorandum ruling, which indicated that
Logan’s patent infringement claims had been dismissed without prejudice and that he was free to
pursuethose clams. The court stated that the dismissal of the patent claims had been with prejudice.

On February 15, 2000, thedistrict court entered final judgment. The court declined to award
prejudgment interest to Logan with respect to the jury’s verdict on hisfraud claim. The court also
denied Logan’s request for attorney’s fees with respect to his Lanham Act clam. However, it
granted Logan attorney’ s fees with respect to the fraud clam. Also, inits February 15th ruling, the
district court noted its denial of Logan’s request for a permanent injunction against future Lanham
Act violations.

After thedistrict court entered fina judgment, HoneyBaked moved for judgment as a matter
of law. On April 19, 2000, the district court granted HoneyBaked’ s motion regarding damages for
Logan’s fraud claim and profits for the Lanham Act violation. Thus, it vacated and set aside all
monetary awards. However, the court denied HoneyBaked' s motion with respect to the remaining
aspectsof thejury’ sverdict and entered fina judgment. Logan now appealsthe district court’ sgrant
of judgment as a matter of law on the issue of damages for fraud and profits for the Lanham Act
violation. He aso appeals the court’ s determination that he is not entitled to prejudgment interest
on the fraud damages and its refusal to grant an injunction against further Lanham Act violations.

In its cross-appeal, HoneyBaked argues that the district court erred in denying its motion for



judgment as amatter of law on the clamsthat it committed fraud and willfully violated the Lanham
Act.
DISCUSSION

Jurisdiction

We must, asan initial matter, address whether we have jurisdiction over this case or whether
this case should be decided by the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

Uncertain as to whether this Court or the Federal Circuit has jurisdiction over the instant
appeal, Logan filed a notice of appeal in both courts. Subsequently, believing that jurisdiction is
proper inthis circuit, Logan, with the approval of HoneyBaked, moved the Federal Circuit to grant
anon-prejudicia dismissa or transfer of appeal to this Court. The Federal Circuit, inasinglejudge
order, denied Logan’ smotion to dismissor transfer, finding that it has appellate jurisdiction over the
instant case. After oral argument before this Court, Logan, unopposed by HoneyBaked, moved the
Federa Circuit to stay proceedings in the case until this Court issuesaruling. The Federal Circuit
granted that motion.

28 U.S.C. § 1295(a)(1) grants exclusive jurisdiction to the Federal Circuit over “an appeal
from afina decision of adistrict court of the United States. . . if the jurisdiction of that court was
based, in whole or in part, on section 1338 of thistitle.” 28 U.S.C. 1295(a)(1). Section 1338(a)
grants to district courts “origina jurisdiction of any civil action arisng under any Act of Congress
relating to patents.” 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a). The Supreme Court has held that “§ 1338(a) jurisdiction
... extend[s] only to those cases in which a well-pleaded complaint establishes either that federal
patent law creates the cause of action or that the plaintiff’s right to relief necessarily depends on

resolution of a substantial question of federal patent law, in that patent law is anecessary element of



one of thewell-pleaded clams.” Christianson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 808-09

(1988).

In Christianson, both the Seventh Circuit and the Federal Circuit found that they lacked the
jurisdiction over a case, transferring it to each other. Christianson, 486 U.S. at 803. Theplaintiff’s
well-pleaded complaint contained two claims under the Sherman Act. 1d. at 810. The Court
determined that a patent law issue was arguably necessary for at least one theory under each claim
but was not necessary for the success of either clam. 1d. Thus, the Court held that the Seventh
Circuit had jurisdiction. Id.

Even though jurisdiction is determined at the outset of the suit, the Federal Circuit has held
that where patent claimsare dismissed without prejudicefrom complaints containing multiplecounts,

it hasno jurisdiction over an appeal of the non-patent clams. See Nilssenv. Motorola, Inc. 203 F.3d

782 (Fed. Cir. 2000). In Nilssen, the court agreed with one party that bifurcating the case was an
efficient way to managethetria and dismissed the patent claimswithout prejudice under Fed. R. Civ.
P. 41(b), which provides for involuntary dismissas of a plaintiff’'sclaims. Id. at 783. The plaintiff
re-filed the patent infringement clamsin a separate action. 1d. Resolving the jurisdiction issue, the
Federa Circuit stated, “Weagree. . . that welack jurisdiction. . . . Thereisno disputethat Nilssen's
complaint originally contained awell-pleaded claimfor patent infringement . . . . Jurisdiction normally
attaches at the time of filing based on pleadings. Had the patent claims remained in the case, we
surely would have had jurisdiction.” 1d. at 784. The court found that, because the patent claimswere
dismissed without prejudice under Rule 41(b), the district court no longer had jurisdiction over the

remaining state law claims based on 28 U.S.C. § 1338 but that its jurisdiction was instead based on



28 U.S.C. §1367.% Id.
The Nilssen court rejected the plaintiff’s argument that the jurisdictional issue must always
be determined on the basis of the claims existing at the commencement of the suit because that

contention is contrary to its holding in Gronholz v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 836 F.2d 515, 518 (Fed.

Cir. 1987). Nilssen, 203 F.3d at 784. In Gronholz, the plaintiff filed a complaint consisting of a
patent clam and a non-patent claim in the district court. Gronholz, 836 F.2d at 516. After the
defendant obtained afavorable summary judgment ruling onthe non-patent claim, the plaintiff moved
voluntarily to dismissboth clams. 1d. Thedistrict court granted the dismissal motion on the patent
claim but denied the motion asto the non-patent clam. Id. Theplaintiff then appealed to the Federal
Circuit fromthe judgment onthe non-patent clam. Id. The defendant moved for atransfer of apped
on the grounds that the Federal Circuit lacked jurisdiction. Id. Granting the transfer motion, the
Federal Circuit found that the plaintiff’ sdismissal constituted an amendment of his complaint which
left only a non-patent claim:

Gronholz’ sdismissal of the patent claim constituted an amendment of his complaint.

That amendment left a complaint which consisted of a single, non-patent claim for

unfair competition. Applying the well-pleaded complaint rule to the complaint then

remaining, we determine that the present suit does not ‘arise under’ the patent laws
for jurisdictional purposes.

In determining that the dismissal of the patent clam constituted an amendment of the

2Section 1367 providesfor supplemental jurisdiction in district courts, where the courts have
origind jurisdiction, “over al other clamsthat are so related to the clams in the action within such
original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Articlell1 of theUnited
States Constitution.” 28 U.S.C. § 1367.



plaintiff’ scomplaint, the Gronhol z court noted that Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(a)® governsaplaintiff’ smotion
for voluntary dismissa. 1d. at 517. However, the court determined that Rule 41(a), which refersto
“actions’ as opposed to “claims,” does not apply in circumstances in which the plaintiff sought
voluntary dismissal of fewer than dl of her clams and that “a plaintiff’s motion to dismiss a single

claim of amulti-count complaint is properly treated as an amendment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 15.” 1d.

The Nilssen court rejected the plaintiff’ sattempt to distinguish Gronholz on the basisthat his
patent clams had been involuntarily dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(b). The court stated:

Although we agree with Nilssen that an involuntary dismissal of aclamistechnicaly
not an amendment, that distinctionisnot controlling. Thetrue state of affairsismore
critical than mere labels. The fact that a voluntary dismissal of a clam under Rule
41(a) is properly labeled an amendment under Rule 15 is a technical, nat a

*Rule 41(a) provides:

Subject to the provisions of Rule 23(e), of Rule 66, and of any statute of the United
States, an action may be dismissed by the plaintiff without order of court (i) by filing
of anotice of dismissal at any time before service by the adverse party of an answer
or of a motion for summary judgment, whichever first occurs, or (ii) by filing a
stipulation of dismissal signed by al parties who have appeared in the action. Unless
otherwise stated in the notice of dismissa or stipulation, the dismissal is without
prejudice, except that anotice of dismissal operatesasan adjudication upon the merits
when filed by a plaintiff who has once dismissed in any court of the United States or
any state an action based on or including the same clam.. . ..

Except asprovided in paragraph (1) of this subdivision of thisrule, an action shal not
be dismissed at the plaintiff’sinstance save upon order of the court and upon such
terms and conditions as the court deems proper. If a counterclaim has been pleaded
by a defendant prior to the service upon the defendant of the plaintiff’s motion to
dismiss, the action shal not be dismissed against the defendant’ s objection unlessthe
counterclaim can remain pending for independent adjudication by the court. Unless
otherwise specified inthe order, adismissa under thisparagraphiswithout prejudice.

FeD. R. Civ. P. 41(a).



substantive, distinction . . . . [R]egardless [of] whether the patent claims were

dismissed without prejudice or extinguished by amendment, the effect is the same.

The parties were left in the same legal position with respect to the patent clams as if

they had never been filed.

Nilssen, 203 F.3d at 784-85. The court further stated that “[t]he fact that the dismissal of the
[plaintiff’s] case was without prejudice is ultimately what matters.” 1d. at 785. Had the dismissal

been with prgjudice, the court asserted, it would not have been divested of jurisdiction to review the
district court’s ruling regarding the nonpatent claims because “dismissal of a clam with pregudice
operate[s] as an adjudication . . . on the merits.” 1d.

Thus, under Federal Circuit precedent, the key inquiry in this case iswhether the dismissal of
the patent claims was with or without prejudice. Here, the district court bifurcated the claims, and
the nonpatent claims were to be tried first followed by the patent clams. After the trial on the
nonpatent claims, L. ogan moved to dismiss his patent infringement claimswith prejudice conditioned
upon the simultaneous dismissal of HoneyBaked's counterclaims for declaratory judgment of
invaidity, unenforceability, and non-infringement of Logan’s patents. The district court dismissed
the patent infringement claims. However, it did not state that the dismissal was with prejudice.
Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(a)(2),*if adistrict court’s order of dismissal does not specify whether the
dismissal iswith or without prejudice, then the dismissal is considered to be without prejudice. FeD.
R. CIv. P. 41(3)(2).

Moreover, in the district court’s April 19, 2000, memorandum ruling, in which it granted

judgment as a matter of law in favor of HoneyBaked on the issue of fraud damages, the court

“Though the voluntary dismissal of the patent claims in this case may be technicaly
characterized as an amendment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 15, we will anayze the issue of whether the
dismissal was with or without prejudice under Rule 41(@) in accordance with Nilssen.
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expressy stated that Logan was free to pursue his patent infringement claims. Thus, it was the
court’ sunderstanding, at least at that time, that it had dismissed the patent infringement claims and
counterclaims without prejudice.

On May 17, 2000, one day after Logan filed its notice of appeal to this Court, the district
court attempted, in an order, to correct its earlier statement that Logan could pursue his patent
infringement claims by stating that its dismissal of those claims had been with prejudice. However,
because L ogan had already filed his notice of appeal, the district court was without jurisdiction to

issue the May 17th order. See Rutherford v. Harris County, Tex., 197 F.3d 173,189-90 (5th Cir.

1999). “A district court loses all jurisdiction over matters brought to the court of appeals upon the
filing of anotice of appeal. . . . Once ‘an appeal istaken, the district court is divested of jurisdiction
except to take action in aid of the appeal until the case isremanded to it by the appellate court, or to

correct clerical errors under Rule 60(8).”° 1d. (quoting Travelers Ins. Co. v. Lileberg Enters., Inc.,

38 F.3d 1404, 1407 n.3 (5th Cir. 1994)).

In this case, the district court was without jurisdiction to correct its earlier dismissd of the
patent infringement claims. The court had obviously misunderstood the nature of the dismissal, as
it indicated in the April 19th memorandum ruling that Logan was free to pursue his patent
infringement clams. This misunderstanding undercuts any notion that the court’s May 17th order
correcting its previous dismissa of the patent infringement clamswas clerical in nature. Rather, the

correction was substantive and thus outside of the scope of Rule 60(a). See Rutherford, 197 F.3d

°Rule 60(a) permits district courts, during the pendency of an appeal, to correct clerical
mistakes “in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight
or omission . . . before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appedl
ispending . . . with leave of the appellate court.” FeD. R. Civ. P. 60.
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at 190 (“The failure of the district court to make findings and to award back pay or prejudgement
interest was not clerical in nature because correction of an error in substantive judgment is outside
the reach of Rule 60(a).”).

Because the district court was without jurisdiction to enter the May 17th order and because
the correction made therein was not clerical but substantive, we find that the dismissal of the patent
claims was without prejudice. Accordingly, the Federal Circuit’s precedent holding that it lacks
jurisdiction over non-patent clams where patent clams are dismissed without prejudice from
complaints containing multiple claims is gpplicable in this case. Thus, we conclude that jurisdiction
is proper in this Court, not in the Federal Circuit.

The Federa Circuit’ s order asserting jurisdiction over this appeal distinguishes Gronholz on
the basisthat it did not involve the circumstance where the patent claims were dismissed after atrial
on the nonpatent claims. However, we do not find the timing of the dismissal a sufficient basis for
the digtinction. Because the patent clams were dismissed without prejudice, which is the
determinativefactor under Federal Circuit precedent, thepartiesinthiscase are“left inthe samelegd
position with respect to the patent claims asif they had never been filed.” Nilssen, 203 F.3d at 784-
85. Furthermore, thereisno reason for the Federal Circuit to exercisejurisdiction inthiscase. The
patent claimsare no longer present, and patent law issues do not permeate the other claimsthat were
tried. To find that the Federal Circuit has jurisdiction would be, in our view, expanding its
jurisdiction. Accordingly, we find that we have jurisdiction over this appeal.

. Fraud Liability and Fraud Damages

A. The Disgtrict Court’s Denia of Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Fraud
Liability

11



Inits cross-appeal, HoneyBaked argues that the district court erred in upholding the jury’s
finding that it fraudulently induced Logan to enter into the license agreement.® It argues that there
is no credible evidence supporting the jury’s finding on this issue. According to HoneyBaked, to
establish fraud in the inducement, Logan had to establish that his principal cause for entering into the
license agreement was the expectation that he would receive a stream of royalty payments and that
HoneyBaked was aware of this fact. HoneyBaked points out that the license agreement does not
contain aminimum sales or royalty requirement. Infact, it asserts, Logan agreed to delete any such
explicit language.

With respect to HoneyBaked' s motion for judgment as a matter of law on the issue of
fraudulent inducement, the district court stated:

Itisnot thiscourt’ sfunction to resolve theissues of fact. Plaintiff presented evidence

such that a reasonable person could infer that fraud was utilized by defendants. This

court cannot be called upon to upset afactual finding by the jury that is supported by

evidence. Thus, defendant’s motion for judgment as a matter of law asto thejury’s

factual finding that plaintiff wasinduced into the license agreement by fraud shall be

denied.

We review a district court’s denial of a motion for judgment as a matter of law de novo.

Hamptonv. Dillard Dep’'t Stores, Inc., 247 F.3d 1091, 1099 (5th Cir. 2001). “A party isentitled to

judgment as a matter of law ‘only if the evidence points but one way and is susceptible to no
reasonable inferences which may support the opposing party’s position.”” 1d. (quoting Tyler v.

RE/MAX Mountain States, Inc., 232 F.3d 808, 812 (10th Cir. 2000)). We do not “weigh evidence,

judge witness credibility, or challenge the factua conclusions of the jury. Judgment as a matter of

law isappropriate. . . if thereisno legaly sufficient evidentiary basisfor aclaim under the controlling

®We address thisissue first because, if the district court erred in upholding the jury’ s finding
of fraud, the other issues regarding the fraud damages award would be moot.
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law.” Id. (quoting Brownv. Gray, 227 F.3d 1278, 1285 (10th Cir. 2000)). Furthermore, we view
the evidence and inferences drawn therefrom in the non-moving party’ s favor. 1d.

In Louisiana, “[f]raud is a misrepresentation or suppression of the truth made with the
intention either to obtain an unjust advantage for one party or to cause aloss or inconvenienceto the
other. Fraud may also result from silence or inaction.” LA. Civ. CoDE art. 1953. However, fraud
will “not vitiate consent when the party against whom the fraud was directed could have ascertained
the truth without difficulty, inconvenience, or specia skill.” LA Civ. CoDE art. 1954.

After reviewing therecord, we agreewiththe district court that there was sufficient evidence
for areasonable personto infer that HoneyBaked fraudul ently induced L oganto enter into thelicense
agreement notwithstanding HoneyBaked’ sargument that L ogan agreed to del etelanguage concerning
aminimum sales or royalty requirement. Logan offered evidence that while negotiating with Logan
onthelicenseagreement, HoneyBaked was ordering itssellersnot to sall any meat productsthat were
cut using Logan’'s spiral dicing method. Under the license agreement, HoneyBaked's liability to
Logan for royalty payments was effective November 15, 1997. Craig Kurz (“Kurz”), who was the
secretary and corporate officer of HoneyBaked Foods, Inc., as well as aten percent owner of the
company, sent amemo, dated November 4, 1997, to all personnel directing store managersto locate
variousequipment necessary to produce spiral diced turkey breastsand to placetheitemsina® secure
place.” Thememo also stated that district managerswould later collect the equipment. Kurz testified
that though he drafted this document specificaly for Honey Baked Ham Company of Ohio, he faxed
it to his co-workers at HoneyBaked Foods, Inc. Kurz also admitted in his testimony that by
November 15, 1997, HoneyBaked Foods, Inc., had pulled every pound of meat products covered by

the license agreement with Logan. Approximately one month after circulating the November 4th
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memo, Kurz signed the license agreement with Logan. Kurz admitted in histestimony that when he

signed the agreement, he knew that there would be no royalties from November 15, 1997, forward.

Also, Scott Bower (“Bower”) of Honey Baked Ham Company of Georgiasent amemo, dated
November 14, 1997, to store management teams, stating in part, “Effective close of business
Saturday, November 15th, we should discontinue salling any “spiral diced” turkey breasts over the
counter. If you have undiced turkeys in inventory, you may spiral dice them and use them for
sandwiches, but not for over the counter sales.” Charles Bengochea, who was the vice president of
retail operationsfor Honey Baked Ham Company of Georgiain 1997, testified that Bower reported
to him and that he “stand[s] by the memo.” Honey Baked Ham Company of Georgia signed the
license agreement with Logan on December 1, 1997.

Considering the entire record, we cannot conclude that the jury’s finding that HoneyBaked
fraudulently induced Logan to enter into the license is unsupported.

B. The Digtrict Court’s Grant of Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Fraud
Damages

1 Whether HoneyBaked' s Post-Trial Motion For Judgment asa Matter of Law
Was Properly Before the District Court

Logan arguesthat thedistrict court erred in considering HoneyBaked' s motion for judgment
asamatter of law regarding fraud damages. He assertsthat HoneyBaked failed to move the district
court to dismiss his claim for fraud damages prior to submitting the case to the jury. He points out
that post-trial motions for judgment as a matter of law are only permissible as renewals of motions
made on the same basis before the submission of the case to the jury.

HoneyBaked responds that it properly preserved its arguments regarding fraud damages. It

14



pointsout that it moved for judgment as a matter of law at the close of Logan’s case and at the close
of al of the evidence and that the district court denied those motions. Moreover, it asserts that the
district court only referred to Logan’ srescission claim in disposing of those motions because Logan
had only pled rescission as aremedy for the vice of consent and never sought damages.

The district court found that HoneyBaked moved for a directed verdict on all questions of
liability prior to the submission of the case to the jury. However, the court noted that HoneyBaked
did not specifically move for a dismissal of Logan’s claim for damages due to fraud because of
insufficiency of the evidence. The court found this fact “irrelevant” because Logan “moved on all
guestions of liability” and “[d]amages are an inherent part of liability.” Thus, the court found that
HoneyBaked' s post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law was properly before it.

Rule 50(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

If during atrial by jury aparty has been fully heard on an issue and thereisno legally

sufficient evidentiary basisfor areasonablejury to find for that party onthat issue, the

court may determinetheissue against that party and may grant amotion for judgment

as amatter of law against that party with respect to a claim or defense that cannot

under the controlling law be maintained or defeated without a favorable finding on

that issue.

Fep. R. Civ. P. 50(a)(1). A motion for judgment as a matter of law that was denied at the close of
the evidence may be renewed after the trial under Rule 50(b). See FED. R. Civ. P. 50(b). “Itiswell

established that to preserve the right to file a Rule 50(b) motion the moving party must first request

JML [or judgment as a matter of law] at the close of all evidence.” Taylor Publ’g Co. v. Jostens,

Inc., 216 F.3d 465, 471 (5th Cir. 2000). Instead of insisting that parties strictly comply with this
procedural requisite, we “*‘approach[ ] this requirement with aliberal spirit.’” 1d. (quoting Alcatel

USA, Inc. v. DGI Tech. Inc., 166 F.3d 772, 781 (5th Cir. 1999)). Thus, we have excused technical
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noncompliance with Rule 50(b) where the motion was not perfectly timed with respect to the close
of the evidence and the submission of the caseto thejury. Seeid. at 472-73.

Viewing HoneyBaked smotionwiththe“libera spirit,” withwhichweassesscompliancewith
the requirements of Rule 50(b) motions, we agree with the district court and find that HoneyBaked
adequately preserved theissue of fraud damagesinitsmotionsfor judgment as amatter of law before
the case was submitted to thejury. At the close of Logan’s case, HoneyBaked moved under Fed. R.
Civ. P. 50 for the “dismissal of al counts of the alegation of the complaint.” At the close of al of
the evidence, HoneyBaked renewed its Rule 50 motion. As the district court noted, HoneyBaked
moved under Rule 50 on al questions of liability. All formsof damageswereinherent in thisrequest.
We decline to adopt an unduly burdensome view of Rule 50 that would require litigants to detail
every aspect of a case where, as in this case, a generd, all encompassing statement will suffice.
Furthermore, Logan did not specifically plead and seek damages for rescission dueto fraud. Thus,
HoneyBaked should not be penalized for not specificaly referencing such damagesin its motion for
judgment as a matter of law.

2. Whether the District Court Properly Concluded That Rescission WastheOnly
Appropriate Remedy and That Logan Had Not Proven Fraud Damages

L ogan arguesthat the district court erred in granting HoneyBaked’ s motion for judgment as
amatter of law and vacating thejury’ sfraud damages award because L ouisianalaw providesfor such
damages and he proved those damages under the applicable statutory provision. Specificaly, he
clamsthat Louisiana Civil Code Article 1958, which pertains to rescission because of fraud, and the
comments thereto indicate that afraud victim isentitled to recover the profits of which he has been

deprived. He aso aversthat whether such profits have been provenisaquestion of fact for the jury

16



to decide and statesthat in his casethejury did so decide. He assertsthat thereis sufficient evidence
intherecordfor thejury to have determined hislost profits, including evidence of HoneyBaked' s past
sales of spiral diced boneless turkey breasts and evidence of the royalties that Logan would have
received based on those past sdes. Moreover, he argues that whether rescission alone was an
adequate remedy or whether damagesin addition to rescission werewarranted was aquestion of fact
for the jury and that the jury’s finding on this issue should not have been disturbed by the district
court. According to Logan, the district court’s inquiry should have extended only far enough to
determine whether the jury’s finding was supported by the record.

Additionaly, Logan notes that this case implicates policy considerations. He observes that,
if adefrauded party’ sonly remedy isrescission, thenthereisanincentivefor the commission of fraud.
There would, in his view, be nothing to lose and much to gain through the commission of fraud.

While conceding that L ouisiana Civil Code Article 1958 permitsthe recovery of damagesfor
rescission due to fraud in appropriate instances, HoneyBaked argues that such damages are not
warranted in this case. HoneyBaked again asserts that Logan only pled rescission as the remedy for
fraud intheinducement. Furthermore, it aversthat rescissionisthe only appropriate remedy because
it made Loganwhole. HoneyBaked observesthat oncethelicense agreement wasvoided, Loganwas
freeto pursue hispatent infringement case, but hevoluntarily dismissedit. Thus, HoneyBaked argues
that Logan has suffered no damages as aresult of entering the license agreement.

Moreover, HoneyBaked maintains that the jury’ s award for fraud damagesis not supported
by therecord. AccordingtoHoneyBaked, L ogan never presented evidence regarding fraud damages.
It claims that it was only during closing arguments that Logan’s counsel presented an analysis of

Logan’s damages. HoneyBaked points out, however, that counsel’s analysis pertained to Logan’'s
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breach of contract clam only, which the jury regjected. Furthermore, HoneyBaked notes that the
license agreement did not require HoneyBaked to sell any amount of the product.

Infinding that L ogan wasnot entitled to damages, thedistrict court stated that L ogan had not
sought damages under Louisiana Civil Code Article 1958 in his complaint and that he did not prove
such damages at trial. The court noted that the license agreement did not preclude Logan from
negotiating agreements from other parties wishing to use his patent. Also, the court observed that
L oganwasreturned to hisposition prior to the patent suit and the license agreement. Asfor Logan’'s
policy argument the court stated: “[P]laintiff strongly urgesthat by not awarding the damages ‘lost’
by the benefit of the bargain, defendant is rewarded for a failed attempt at fraud. However, this
‘benefit’ to the defendant is not a proven damage to the plaintiff.” Moreover, the court pointed out
that Logan was free to seek recourse against HoneyBaked with his patent infringement claims.

We agree with the district court that fraud damages areinappropriateinthiscase. Louisana
Civil Code Article 1958 states: “The party against whom rescission is granted because of fraud is
liable for damages and attorney fees.” Thus, clearly damages are permissiblein thiscase. However,
after carefully reviewing the record, including Logan’'s Amended Complaint and his Pre-trid
Statement, we conclude that Logan never sought damages for fraud in the inducement. Instead, he
only sought and pled rescission as an alternative remedy should thejury find for HoneyBaked on the
breach of contract claim. In hisPre-Trial Statement, L ogan stated:

1 For Defendants breaches of contract, an award equal to the amount of
royalties that Logan would have received if Defendants had in the past
continued to make and offer for sale products covered by Logan’s Reissued
Patent, would in the future receive if Defendants were to make and offer

products covered by Logan’s Reissued Patent for sale, and/or for judgment
dissolving the Non-Exclusive Patent License and Cross-License Agreement;
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2. Alternatively, for judgment declaring the Non-Exclusive Patent License and
Cross-License Agreement void abinitio for being illusory and/or dueto vices
in Logan’s consent, arising out legally cognizable error and/or fraud.

Because he did not seek fraud damages, not surprisingly, Logan did not present any evidence
at trial that was specificaly linked to alleged losses resulting from HoneyBaked's fraud. As the
district court noted, he did not present evidence that he had spent money in reliance on the license
agreement or demonstrate that he was otherwise financially harmed.

HoneyBaked clamsthat L ogan never sought damagesfor fraud asavice of consent and that
hethereforewaived such damages. Wenote, however, that our holding isnot that L ogan waived any
claim for fraud damages by failing to plead such damages.” Rather, we point out Logan’s failure to
seek and plead fraud damages to underscore his failure to present any evidence related to fraud
damages. None of the evidence that Logan points to in this appeal as supporting fraud damages
convincesusthat heisentitled to such damages. Infact, hehasmerely offered post-trial explanations
of evidence that he actually offered to prove damagesfor breach of contract. None of this evidence
goes to fraud damages.

Also, we find Logan’s policy argument unpersuasive. The remedy that he pled, rescission,
would have alowed him to pursue his patent infringement claims. Under the unique circumstances
of thiscase, the opportunity to prevail onthese clamswould have safeguarded against the possibility
that HoneyBaked would benefit from any fraudulent conduct. Moreover, asthedistrict court stated,

any benefit to HoneyBaked in the commission of fraud does not trandlate into proof of damages on

the part of Logan.

"Because we agree with the district court that damages for rescission due to fraud are
unsupported by evidence and thus inappropriate in this case, we pretermit the waiver issue.
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We notethat it was the attempt to settle Logan’ s origina patent infringement clamsthat led
to the license agreement between the parties. The rescission remedy permitted Logan to resume
litigation with those claims. In fact, the outcome of the present case was to determine the necessity
of asubsequent trial onthe patent clams. However, Logan voluntarily choseto dismissthoseclaims.
L oganwill not be permitted to collect damagesthat wereinappropriately awarded by thejury because
he elected not to move forward with the patent claims.

Accordingly, we find that the district court did not err in vacating the jury’s award of fraud
damages.®
[1. Lanham Act Claims for False Advertising

A. The District Court’s Denia of Judgment asaMatter of Law Regarding Lanham Act
Violations

1 Whether Logan Had Standing to Sue HoneyBaked Under the Lanham Act for
False Advertising

HoneyBaked argues that Logan lacked standing to sue it under the Lanham Act for false
advertising because he falled to establish that he was a competitor of HoneyBaked and to allege that
he suffered a competitive injury. This Court recently adopted a five-factor test for determining

statutory or “prudentia” standing under the Lanham Act. See Proctor & Gamble Co. v. Amway

Corp., 242 F.3d 539, 562-63 (5th Cir. 2001).° In Proctor & Gamble, this Court held that Proctor &

®8Because we find that the district court did not err in vacating the fraud damages award, we
pretermit the issue of whether the court erred in finding that L ogan was not entitled to prejudgment
interest on the fraud damages.

°Standing has both constitutional and prudential aspects. Proctor & Gamble, 242 F.3d at 560.
To satisfy the constitutional standing requirement, “aplaintiff must show (1) aninjury infact (2) that
isfairly traceable to the actions of the defendant and (3) that likely will be redressed by a favorable
decision.” |d. Prudentia standing requirements are:
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Gamble lacked standing to bring a Lanham Act claim against Amway based on Amway’s aleged
misrepresentationsto itsdistributorsregarding itsallegedly illegal pyramid scheme. 1d. at 560. This

Court adopted thefive-factor test set forth in Conte Brothers Automotive, Inc. v. Quaker State-Slick

50, Inc., 165 F.3d 221, 229 (3rd Cir. 1998), for determining whether a plaintiff has prudential

standing under the Lanham Act. 1d. at 562. The factorsto be considered are:

(1) the nature of the plaintiff’s alleged injury: Isthe injury ‘of atype that Congress
sought to redress in providing a private remedy for violations of the antitrust lawvs ?;
(2) the directness or indirectness of the asserted injury; (3) the proximity or
remoteness of the party to thealleged injuriousconduct; (4) the specul ativeness of the
damages clam; and (5) therisk of duplicative damages or complexity in apportioning
damages.

Applying those factors, this Court in Proctor & Gamble found standing to be lacking. Id. at

564. Regarding the first factor, we stated that it is unlikely that Congress intended to address
fraudulent misrepresentations of a company to potential employeesin an effort to convince themto
work for and buy products from the company. Id. at 563. We determined that the second factor
indicated that Proctor & Gamble lacked standing because the case did not involve one competitor
directly injuring another by making fase statements about its own goods and thus influencing
customers to buy its product instead of the competitor’s product. Id. We found that standing was

also undercut by the third factor. 1d. We noted that although the distributors, “who [were] more

[jJudicidly created limits [that] concern whether a plaintiff’ sgrievance arguably fals
within the zone of interests protected by the statutory provision invoked in the suit,
whether the complaint raises abstract questions or a generalized grievance more
properly addressed by the legidative branch, and whether the plaintiff isasserting his
or her own legal rights and interests rather than the legal rights and interests of third
parties.

Id. In Proctor & Gamble, this Court found that Congress did not intend to abrogate prudential
standing principles with respect to the Lanham Act. 1d. at 560-61.
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immediateto theinjury than[was] P& G,” probably lacked standing under the LanhamAct, they could
probably sue Amway for fraud. 1d. at 563-64. Regarding thefourth factor, we observed that Proctor
& Gamble had not even attempted to offer evidence asto any lost profits resulting from Amyway’s
alleged pyramid scheme. 1d. at 564. With respect to thefifth factor, we stated that “[n]ot only could
every competitor in the market sue Amway if P& G is alowed standing here, but there would be
nothing to stop other companies not in direct competition with Amway from suing based on harm
suffered by having potential workers fraudulently induced away.” Id.

In this case, the first and fifth factorsweigh in Logan’sfavor. Congress obvioudly intended
to addressliterdly fase advertising under the Lanham Act. See 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). Also, Logan
appears to be the only plaintiff who would bring a Lanham Act false advertising clam against
HoneyBaked based on advertisements involving meat sliced using amethod for which he holds the
patent.

HoneyBaked' s argument that it was not one of Logan’s competitors seems to relate to the
second, third, and fourth factors. The second and third factorsindicatethat L ogan hasstanding. The
asserted injury in this case is that HoneyBaked's literally false advertising about its own goods
influenced itscustomersto buy itsproduct instead of Logan’ sproduct. HoneyBaked’ sargument that
it is not one of Logan's competitors is unavailing. Our inquiry into Logan’'s status as one of
HoneyBaked's competitors is not as stringent as it would be were the issue related to liability or
damages instead of prudential standing. Nevertheless, it is clear that Logan has a direct business
interest in the sales of spira diced meats. Moreover, his ability to license his spira dicing method
to others may have been directly affected by HoneyBaked' s false advertising offering spiral dliced

products.
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The fourth factor does not undercut standing in this case although the jury found that Logan
had not established any actual losses. Logan presented evidence regarding HoneyBaked' s profits
allegedly resulting from the sale of falsely advertised products, and the jury apparently awarded
L ogan some of these profits.

Accordingly, we find that Logan had standing to bring the Lanham Act clam for false

advertising against HoneyBaked.

2. Whether Logan Proved the Elements Necessary to Establish a Lanham Act
Violation for False Advertising

Thejury found that Logan had stated aLanham Act claim under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(A)*
for literally false advertising and that HoneyBaked willfully violated the Lanham Act. Inits cross-
appeal, HoneyBaked challenges the jury’s finding that it willfully engaged in fase advertising. It
argues that the finding is against the weight of the evidence. It claims that none of the types of
advertising that Logan complained of was fase or affected Logan. Additionaly, HoneyBaked

emphasizes that its advertising did not mislead any customers and that none of them relied on the

1015 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(A) provides:

Any person who, on or in connection with any goodsor services, or any container for
goods, uses in commerce any word, term, name, symbol, or device, or any
combinationthereof, or any false designation of origin, false or mideading description
of fact, or false or mideading representation of fact, which . . . islikely b cause
confusion, or to cause mistake, or to decelve as to the afiliation, connection, or
association of such person with another person, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or
approval of hisor her goods, services, or commercia activities by another person, or
...incommercia advertising or promotion, misrepresentsthe nature, characteristics,
qualities, or geographic origin of his or her or another person’s goods, services, or
commercia activities, shal beliable in acivil action by any person who believes that
he or sheisor islikely to be damaged by such act.
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advertising in making their purchasing decison. Moreover, it argues that the jury’s finding of
“willfulness’ is contrary to the definition of “willful” as set forth in the district court’ s instructions.
HoneyBaked insists that Logan did not establish that he was a victim of HoneyBaked' s advertising
or that HoneyBaked had targeted him in any way. It clams that, except in afew locations, Logan
and HoneyBaked were not even competitors.

Thedistrict court found that thejury’ s determination that HoneyBaked had willfully engaged
in false advertising is supported by the record. The court declined to disturb the jury’s finding,
stating, “This court cannot be called upon to upset afactua finding by the jury that is supported by
the evidence.”

A plaintiff must make the following showing to establish a claim under the false advertising
prong of the Lanham Act:

(1) that the defendant made afa se statement of fact about its product inacommercial

advertisement; (2) that the statement actually deceived or has atendency to deceive

a substantial segment of its audience; (3) the deception is likely to influence the

purchasing decision; (4) the defendant caused the fase statement to enter interstate

commerce; and (5) the plaintiff[] ha[s] been or [ig] likely to be injured as a result.

Blue Dane Smmental Corp. v. Am. Smmental Ass'n, 178 F.3d 1035, 1042 (5th Cir. 1999); seeaso

King v. Ames, 179 F.3d 370, 373-74 (5th Cir. 1999).

The jury heard evidence about five types of allegedly false advertisng by HoneyBaked:
packaging, catalog photos, menu boards, websites, and the corporate logo. HoneyBaked concedes
initsbrief to this Court that from November 1997 until mid-1998, even though it had ceased sdlling
spiral diced meat products, (1) its packaging for mail ordered turkey breasts “mentioned” spira
dicing, (2) it continued to use catal og photos of spiral diced turkey breasts, (3) itswebsitescontained

photos of spiral diced turkey breasts, and (4) its corporate identity trademark included a drawing of
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aspira diced turkey breast. Viewing the evidencein thelight most favorableto Logan and avoiding
the re-weighing of evidence, aswe are required to do, wefind that the showing of these inaccuracies
was sufficient evidencefor thejury to concludethat HoneyBaked made afa se statement of fact about
its product in acommercial advertisement.

Because L ogan established that HoneyBaked made literally false statements, HoneyBaked' s
argument that it did not midead its customersand that the advertising did not affect their purchasing

decision isinconsequential. See Pizza Hut, Inc. v. Papa John’s Int’l, Inc., 227 F.3d 489, 497 (5th

Cir. 2000). InPizzaHut, acaseinvolving afase advertising clam under the Lanham Act, we stated
that “when the statements of fact at issue are shown to be literally fase, the plaintiff need not
introduce evidence on the issue of the impact the statements had on consumers .. . . . In such a
circumstance, the court will assume that the statements actually misled consumers.” 1d.

We dso find that there was sufficient evidencefor thejury to find that Logan had satisfied the
injury element of his false advertising clam. HoneyBaked argues that Logan did not show that he
wasinjured or likely to beinjured because of HoneyBaked' sfase advertising. It pointstothejury’s
finding that Logan failed to establish his losses as an indication that he also failed to establish the
injury element of hisfalse advertising clam. However, thisargument conflatestheinjury requirement
for thefaseadvertising claimwiththerequirement that he prove hisactual damagesin order to obtain

relief. SeeBalance Dynamics Corp. v. Schmitt Indus., 204 F.3d 683, 689 (6th Cir. 2000) (noting the

importance of “clearly distinguishing the elements necessary to prove a breach of the Lanham Act
fromthe elements necessary to justify a certain remedy for that breach”). While Logan did not prove
damages with particularity sufficient to prompt the jury to find that he had established actual losses

because of thefase advertising, therewas sufficient evidence fromwhich thejury could haveinferred
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that hewasin someway injured. Aswe stated in our standing analysis, Logan has adirect business
interest in the sales of spiral diced meats, and his ability to license his spiral dicing method to others
may have been directly affected by HoneyBaked's false advertising offering spiral diced meat
products. Thejury waswell aware of this, as Logan’s claims against HoneyBaked were based on a
license agreement regarding Logan’ s patented method for spirally dicing meat products. The jury
could haveinferred that the partieswere competitorsand that HoneyBaked' sfalse advertising injured
L ogan.

B. The District Court’s Grant of Judgment as a Matter of Law Regarding Damages for
Lanham Act Violations

Logan argues that he is entitled to HoneyBaked' s profits from the sale of fasdly advertised
turkey breasts. He claimsthat heisentitled to such profitsunder 15 U.S.C. §1117(a).** Furthermore,
heclamsthat, under thisstatutory provision, hewas merely required to establish HoneyBaked' ssales
of the falsely advertised product while HoneyBaked was required to prove al elements of costs to
be deducted from those sales. He asserts that he satisfied the requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a)
by proving HoneyBaked' s sales of falsaly advertised turkey breasts, and he points out that thejury’s
award was only a fraction of the amount that he proved, which was approximately $2,200,000.
Moreover, he claimsthat thedistrict court erroneously concluded that it was hisburdento provethat
HoneyBaked's sales were the result of the fase advertising. Instead, he avers that it was
HoneyBaked’ sburden to provethat the profitsfrom the sale of thefalsaly advertised goods were not

the result of the false advertising.

115 U.S.C. § 1117(a) provides for the following damages for a violation under 15 U.S.C. §
1125(a) for fse advertising: “(1) defendant’ sprofits, (2) any damages sustained by the plaintiff, and
(3) the costs of the action.”
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Regarding the sufficiency of the evidence, L ogan asserts that there was evidence fromwhich
the jury could have reasonably inferred that some of HoneyBaked' s profitswere the result of itsfalse
advertising. He aso argues that there was evidence that he was adversely impacted by the fase
advertising in that his sales dropped substantially when HoneyBaked began advertising and sdlling
spiral diced boneless turkey breasts.

HoneyBaked makes severa argumentsin support of the district court’ s grant of judgment as
matter of law in its favor on the issue of damages for Lanham Act violations. First, it claims that
L ogan lacked standing to pursue any Lanham Act claims because he did not suffer aninjury in fact.*?
Second, HoneyBaked contendsthat the jury’s award was an improper penalty becauseit aso found
that Logan did not suffer any injury from HoneyBaked' s violations of the Lanham Act. It points out
that Logan did not present any evidence that he had lost any sales because of HoneyBaked's
advertising, that the advertisements were material to consumers, or that consumers were misled by
theadvertisements. Furthermore, it aversthat Loganisnot entitled to HoneyBaked' sprofits because
he suffered no losses due to the advertisements. Third, HoneyBaked argues that Logan failed to
satisfy the elements for a Lanham Act claim.™®

Citing Texas Pig Stands, Inc. v. Hard Rock Café International, Inc., 966 F.2d 956 (5th Cir.

1992) (per curiam) (“TexasPig Stands|1”),* thedistrict court found that L ogan had failed to present

2We have already determined that Logan had standing to bring alL.anham Act claimfor false
advertising against HoneyBaked. See supra Section 111.A.1.

BWe have aready determined that the jury’s finding that Logan satisfied the necessary
elements for his Lanham Act claim for false advertising against HoneyBaked is supported by the
record. See supra Section I11.A.2.

“Texas Pigs |1 isthis Court’s per curiam opinion on the suggestion for rehearing en banc.
This Court’sinitial decisionin that caseis Texas Pig Stands, Inc. v. Hard Rock Café International
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evidence demonstrating that any of HoneyBaked' s profits resulted from its violation of the Lanham

Act. InTexas Pig Stands |1, we upheld the district court’ s ruling that the plaintiff was not entitled

to the defendant’ s profits because the plaintiff had failed to present evidence “showing that any of
Defendant’ s profits were the result of its infringement of the mark.” 966 F.2d at 957 (emphasisin

original). Relying on Texas Pig Standsl|1, thedistrict court in this case stated that it was certain that

HoneyBaked would have sold the same quantity of turkey breasts regardless of the dicing method.
Furthermore, the court pointed out that HoneyBaked had presented evidence that consumersdid not

care how the meat was diced. The district court noted that Texas Pig Stands |1 involved trademark

infringement, see Texas Pig Stands 1, 966 F.2d at 957-58, whereas this case involves willful patent

infringement. However, the court found that the principles espoused in Texas Pig Stands |1 are

applicable in this case.

We agree with the district court that the principles of Texas Pig Stands |1 are applicable in

this case and extend those principles to casesinvolving fase advertising under the Lanham Act. As

does this case, Texas Pig Stands Il involved profits sought under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a). However,

unlike the present case, which involves fase advertising, the Lanham Act claim in Texas Pig Stands

Il was based on trademark infringement. This distinction does not render this Court’s holding
regarding the proof necessary for a plaintiff to obtain a defendant’s profits under § 1117(a)
inapplicable.

Additionaly, we find a recent decision by the Sixth Circuit persuasive on this issue. See

Baance Dynamics, 204 F.3d at 683. There, the plaintiff argued that because it could establish that

the defendant knowingly and willfully madefa se statements, it was entitled to the defendant’ sprofits.

Inc., 951 F.2d 684 (1992).
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Id. at 695. The magistrate judge had rejected the plaintiff’ s argument and found that it was entitled
to the defendant’ s profits only if it could show that the defendant gained additional sales due to the
advertisement, or that the plaintiff lost sales, or wasforced to lower the price of itsown product. 1d.
The magistrate judge pointed out that the Lanham Act states that an award of damagesis subject to
the principles of equity and should not impose a penalty but rather should be for the purpose of
compensation.” |d. Adopting the magistrate judge’ s reasoning, the court held that “unlessthereis
some proof that plaintiff lost salesor profits, or that defendant gained them, the principles of equity
do not warrant an award of defendant’s profits.” Id.

We agree with the Sixth Circuit in Balance Dynamics, and accordingly, we hold that where

a plaintiff who has brought a Lanham Act claim for false advertising has failed to present evidence
that the defendant benefitted from the alleged fase advertising, the plaintiff will not be permitted to
recover any of the defendant’ s profits under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).

After carefully reviewing therecord, wefind no error inthe district court’ sdetermination that
L oganfailed to present any evidencethat HoneyBaked' s profitswere attributableto falseadvertising.
Indeed, on appeal, L ogan hasnot pointed to any evidencein therecord demonstrating that consumers
purchased HoneyBaked' s product because of its false advertising that the meat was spirally diced.

Instead, he devotes much of hisbriefing to attempting to distinguish TexasPig Stands| | and asserting

that HoneyBaked had the burden of proving that its profitswere not the result of thefalse advertising.

C. The Digtrict Court’s Denia of Injunctive Relief Against Future Lanham Act
Violations

>Section 1117(a) states that the damages provided thereunder are “ subject to the principles
of equity” and “shall constitute compensation and not a penalty.” 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).
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L ogan arguesthat hewasentitled to aninjunctionto prevent further violations of the Lanham
Act by HoneyBaked. According to Logan, the district court misunderstood the scope of his
requested injunction. In Logan’sview, the district court’ s understanding was that L ogan sought to
enjoin HoneyBaked from using spiral diced connotationson productsthat it sold whichwere actually
spirally diced. Instead, Logan notes, he sought an injunction to prevent HoneyBaked from using
spiral dliced connotations with respect to products that have not been spiral dliced.

We review the district court’s denial of Logan’s request for injunctive relief for abuse of

discretion. See Peaches Entm’t. Corp. v. Entm’t. Repertoire Assoc., 62 F.3d 690, 693 (5th Cir.
1995). Logan haswholly failed to demonstrate that the district court abused itsdiscretion in denying
injunctiverdief. Inorder to obtain permanent injunctiverelief against future violations of 15 U.S.C.
8 1125(a), a plaintiff must “demonstrate that a commercial advertisement or promotion is either
literally false or that the advertisement islikely to mislead and confuse consumers’ and “that it will

suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted.” Seven-Up v. Coca-Cola Co., 86 F.3d 1379,

1390 (5th Cir. 1996).

In Seven-Up, this Court found that there was no evidence indicating that the plaintiff would
suffer irreparable harm if an injunction was not granted even though the district court had entered
judgment onthejury’ sfinding that the defendant’ sadvertising wasfa seand mideading and waslikey
to decelve. 1d. at 1389-90. We noted that the defendant had ceased using the sales presentation that
was the subject of the plaintiff’s Lanham Act claim for false advertising and that the significance of
someof the datacontained in the presentation materials had become questionable. 1d. at 1390. Thus,

we upheld the magistrate judge’ s denial of the plaintiff’ srequest for permanent injunctiverelief. Id.
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Inthiscase, Logan hasfailed to establish that it will suffer irreparable harm absent injunctive
relief. It pointsto no evidence that HoneyBaked continues to make references to spiral sliced meat
productsinits advertising or that it will inthefuture. Accordingly, wefind that the district court did

not err in denying injunctive relief.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the district court’ s judgment.

AFFIRMED.
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